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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk
that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid
market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of
this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of
this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Wing Fung Group Asia Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of
giving information with regard to the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”). The Directors,
having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material aspects and not misleading or deceptive, and
there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of the
Company, it is my pleasure to present the first annual report of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017.

Review

The shares of the Company (the “Share(s)”) were successfully
listed (the “Listing”) on GEM of the Stock Exchange on
27 February 2018. It was a milestone of the Group which
boosted the confidence of our stakeholders, enhanced the
Group’s corporate profile and strengthened the Group’s
competitiveness.

Results

The total revenue of the Group increased by approximately
HK$31.7 million or 23.6% from approximately HK$134.4 million
for the vyear ended 31 December 2016 to approximately
HK$166.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2017. The
Group's profit for the year decreased by approximately HK$10.2
million or 66.2% from approximately HK$15.4 million for the
year ended 31 December 2016 to approximately HK$5.2 million
for the year ended 31 December 2017. The decrease was
primarily due to the non-recurring listing expenses of
approximately HK$11.3 million recorded for the year ended
31 December 2017 (2016: Nil).

Forward

Looking ahead, the Group is positive about the prospects of the
construction market in Hong Kong and Macau and will continue
to focus on our core business of the provision of supply,
installation and fitting-out services of mechanical ventilation and
air-conditioning (“MVAC") system for buildings. In order to
maximise the long term returns to our shareholders (the
“Shareholders”), the Group will devote more resources towards
the development of our contracting business.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ER®RE

A note of appreciation

On behalf of the Board, | wish to take this opportunity to
express my deep gratitude to our Shareholders, clients, business
partners, suppliers and subcontractors for their continuous
support. | would also like to express our sincere appreciation to
the Group’s management and staff for their commitment,
contribution and dedication throughout the years.

Wing Fung Group Asia Limited
Chung Chi Keung
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 21 March 2018
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Business Review and Outlook

The Group is principally engaged as a subcontractor for the
provision of supply, installation and fitting-out services of MVAC
system for various types of private and public building projects
including infrastructural, commercial and residential building
projects in Hong Kong and Macau.

The Shares were listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange on
27 February 2018 (the “Listing Date”) where 143,500,000
ordinary shares (comprising a public offer of 43,050,000 Shares
and a placing of 100,450,000 Shares) had been offered for
subscription, at an offer price of HK$0.38 per Share. The net
proceeds received by the Company was approximately HK$27.2
million.

With the Group’s experienced management team and reputation
in the market, the Directors consider that the Group is well-
positioned to compete against its competitors under such future
challenges that are commonly faced by all competitors, and the
Group will continue to pursue the following key business
strategies: (i) further developing its business of supply,
installation and fitting-out services of MVAC system by making
use of additional financial resources available from the Listing,
which allows the Group to undertake more projects of larger
scale that require the provision of surety bond; (i) further
strengthening the Group’s engineering department through
recruiting additional qualified and experienced staff; and (iii)
leasing a new office and recruiting additional administrative staff
in Macau to handle the expected increasing workload in Macau
in the long run.

Financial Review

Revenue

Our revenue increased from approximately HK$134.4 million for
the year ended 31 December 2016 to approximately HK$166.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2017, representing an
increase of approximately 23.6%. The increase was principally
due to (i) the revenue of approximately HK$2.3 million from
new projects in particular two new projects located at Happy
Valley and one new project located at Kowloon Bay and (ii) the
increase in the revenue of approximately HK$102.4 million due
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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to the increase in the amount of our works under existing
projects awarded to us compared to prior period in particular
the projects located at Pokfulam, Kai Tak and Taipa in Macau
which contributed approximately HK$97.6 million of the
increase. The above increase was partially offset by (i) the
decrease in the revenue of approximately HK$57.1 million as a
result of the completion of our projects in prior period and
therefore generate no further revenue for the year ended
31 December 2017 in particular for the completion of the
project located at Sunny Bay on Lantau Island which contributed
approximately HK$40.3 million of the decrease and (ii) the
decrease in the revenue of approximately HK$15.9 million due to
the decrease in the amount of our works for existing projects
awarded to us compared to prior period in particular for the
projects located at Tseung Kwan O and Taipa, lihas in Macau.

Cost of Service

Our cost of sales increased from approximately HK$109.7 million
for the year ended 31 December 2016 to approximately
HK$133.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2017,
representing on increase of approximately 21.7% which was
lower than the extent of increase in our revenue in the same
period due to our improved gross profit margin as discussed
below.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Our gross profit increased by approximately 32.5% from
approximately HK$24.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2016 to approximately HK$32.6 million for the year ended
31 December 2017. The extent of increase in our gross profit
was larger than the extent of increase in our revenue due to our
improved gross profit margin from approximately 18.3% to
approximately 19.6% in the same period. The improvement in
our gross profit margin was principally resulted from the
increase in the amount of our works in project located at Taipa
in Macau (which contributed 38.3% of our total revenue for the
year ended 31 December 2017 and recorded a relatively higher
gross profit margin for the year ended 31 December 2017),
which was partially offset by the completion of our works in
project located at Sunny Bay on Lantau Island (which recorded a
relatively higher gross profit margin for the year ended
31 December 2016).
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Listing Expenses

During the year ended 31 December 2017, our Group
recognised non-recurring listing expenses of approximately
HK$11.3 million (2016: Nil) as expenses in connection with the
Listing.

Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses increased by approximately HK$6.3
million, or approximately 86.3%, from approximately HK$7.3
million for the year ended 31 December 2016 to approximately
HK$13.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2017, mainly
attributable to the increase in the staff costs and the
professional fees.

Income Tax Expense

Our income tax expenses increased by approximately HK$0.3
million, from approximately HK$2.5 million for the year ended
31 December 2016 to approximately HK$2.8 million for the year
ended 31 December 2017. The effective tax rate for the year
ended 31 December 2017 was approximately 35.1%, which was
higher compared to that of approximately 14.1% for the year
ended 31 December 2016. The increase in effective tax rate for
the year ended 31 December 2017 was mainly due to the
inclusion of approximately HK$11.3 million non-deductible listing
expenses (2016: Nil). Excluding these one-off expenses from the
profit before tax, our effective tax rate for the year ended
31 December 2017 would have been approximately 14.6%
(2016: approximately 14.1%).

Profit for the Year

Our profit for the year decreased by approximately 66.2% from
approximately HK$15.4 million for the year ended 31 December
2016 to approximately HK$5.2 million for the year ended
31 December 2017. Such decrease was primarily attributable to
the listing expenses incurred by the Group for the Listing during
the year ended 31 December 2017. Excluding the one-off
exceptional expenses for the Listing of the Company of
approximately HK$11.3 million (2016: Nil), profit for the year
ended 31 December 2017 would reach approximately HK$16.5
million (2016: approximately HK$15.4 million), representing an
increase of approximately 7.1% compared to the corresponding
period ended 31 December 2016.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
kkii u—_r uHH& Tﬁ

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had total assets of
approximately HK$74.0 million (2016: approximately HK$91.0
million), which is financed by total liabilities and shareholders’
equity (comprising share capital and reserves) of approximately
HK$52.3 million (2016: approximately HK$40.2 million) and
approximately HK$21.7 million (2016: approximately HK$50.8
million), respectively.

The total interest-bearing borrowing and bank overdraft
(31 December 2016: bank overdrafts) of the Group as at
31 December 2017 were approximately HK$19.6 million
(31 December 2016: approximately 2.4 million), and current ratio
as at 31 December 2017 was approximately 1.4 times
(31 December 2016: approximately 2.3 times).

The Group’s borrowings and bank balances are mainly
denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"”) and there was no
significant exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuations during
the year.

The Group's gearing ratio, which is calculated by dividing the
amount due to a shareholder of the holding company, a bank
borrowing and the bank overdrafts by total equity at the year-
end date, increased from approximately 4.9% as at
31 December 2016 to approximately 90.1% as at 31 December
2017, primarily due to the increase in the level of bank
borrowing and the decrease in total equity. The increase in the
level of bank borrowing was primarily due to a new term loan
raised during the year, whereas the decrease in total equity was
primarily due to the declaration of interim dividends during the
year.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The management considers that the followings are the principal
risks and uncertainties faced by the Group:

(i) the business of the Group relies on successful tenders and
any failure of the Group to secure tender contracts would
affect the operations and financial results of the Group;
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(i)  erroneous or inaccurate estimation of project duration and
the costs involved when determining the tender price may
adversely affect the profitability and financial performance
of the Group;

(iii)  the historical revenue and profit margin may not be
indicative of the future revenue and profit margin of the
Group; and

(iv) any delay or defects of the works of the supplies and
subcontractors’ of the Group would adversely affect its
operations and financial results.

For other risks and uncertainties facing the Group, please refer
to the section headed “Risks Factors” in the prospectus issued
by the Company on 12 February 2018 (the “Prospectus”).

Relationship with customers, suppliers and subcontractors

Customers

The Group's customers mainly include main contractors and
subcontractors of various types of building projects including
infrastructural, commercial and residential building projects in
Hong Kong and Macau. The Group has had business
relationship with the top customers for a period ranging from
approximately 1 year to over 10 years which the Directors
believe implying that the Group has established good
relationship with its customers and is therefore invited by the
customers to submit tenders from time to time.

Suppliers and Subcontractors

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the suppliers and
subcontractors of the Group included (i) suppliers of air-
conditioning equipment and materials; (i) suppliers of processing
services on the Group’s equipment and materials; (iii) machinery
rental service providers; and (iv) subcontractors engaged by the
Group to perform the site works. The Group engaged the
suppliers and subcontractors on a regular basis.

Wing Fung Group Asia Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The Group maintains an internal list of approved suppliers and
subcontractors. The Group selects suppliers based on a number
of factors such as their prices, quality of the goods and services
supplied, past performances and timeliness of delivery. While
engaging subcontractors, the Group selects the subcontractors
for a project by taking into account their availability of
resources and manpower, experience, track record, service
quality, safety performance, timeliness of delivery, reputation
and fee quotations.

The Group did not encounter any material difficulty in sourcing
equipment and materials and services from our suppliers or
assigning subcontractors during the year ended 31 December
2017.

Capital Structure

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which
include the bank borrowing, net of cash and cash equivalents,
and equity of the Group, which comprises share capital and
reserves.

Immediately upon Listing, the total issued share capital of the
Company was HK$5,740,000 divided into 574,000,000 Shares of
par value of HK$0.01 each. There has been no change in the
capital structure of the Group since then. The share capital of
the Group only comprises of ordinary shares.

As at 31 December 2017, the Company’s issued share capital
was HK$7,800 (2016: US$850) divided into 780,000 ordinary
Shares of par value of HK$0.01 each (2016: 850 of US$1 each).

Commitments

The contractual commitments of the Group were primarily
related to the leases of its office premises. The Group's
operating lease commitments amounted to approximately
HK$0.3 million as at 31 December 2017 (31 December 2016:
approximately HK$1.3 million).

Future Plans for Material Investments and Capital Assets
Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and this annual report, the

Group did not have any plans for material investments or capital
assets as of 31 December 2017.
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Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries,
Associates and Joint Ventures

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group did not
have any material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and
affiliated companies.

Contingent Liabilities

Save as disclosed in note 28(b) to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2016 and 2017, the Group did
not have other material contingent liabilities.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The Group’s revenue generating operations are mainly
transacted in HK$ and Macau Pataca (“MOP”). The Directors
consider the impact of foreign exchange exposure to the Group
is minimal and the Group did not engage in any derivatives
agreements and did not commit to any financial instrument to
hedge its foreign exchange exposure during the year ended
31 December 2017.

Pledge of Assets

Save as disclosed in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 December 2016 and 2017, the Group did
not have other pledge of assets.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 December 2017, the Group employed a total of 79
(31 December 2016: 167) employees, 51 (31 December 2016:
145) of them were the labour workers nominated by
subcontractors. The relevant cost of employing the labour
workers nominated by subcontractors has been classified as
subcontracting charges and then the staff costs, including
Directors’ emoluments, of the Group were approximately
HK$18.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016:
approximately HK$9.5 million).

The Group promotes individuals based on their performance and
development potential in the positions held. In order to attract
and retain high quality staff, competitive remuneration package
is offered to employees (with reference to market norms and
individual employees’ performance, qualification and experience).
On top of basic salaries, bonuses may be paid with reference to
the Group’s performance as well as individual’s performance.
Other staff benefits include provision of retirement benefits,
medical benefits and sponsorship of training courses.

Wing Fung Group Asia Limited
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Directors and the management of the Group recognise the
importance of sound corporate governance to the long-term
success and continuing development of the Group. Therefore,
the Board is committed to upholding good corporate standards
and procedures, so as to improve the accountability system and
transparency of the Group, protect the interests and create
value for shareholders of the Company.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles and code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the "CG
Code"”) as set out in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules. The
Shares were listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange on
27 February 2018 (i.e. after the financial year ended
31 December 2017 of the Company), the Company has since
then adopted and complied with, where applicable, the CG
Code except for Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, from the
Listing Date up to the date of this report (the "Relevant
Period”) to ensure that the Group’s business activities and
decision making processes are regulated in a proper and
prudent manner.

Pursuant to Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Chung Chi
Keung (“Mr. Chung”) is currently the chairman of the Board
and the chief executive officer of the Company, responsible for
formulating the overall business strategies and overseeing the
business and operation of the Group. Considering that,
Mr. Chung has been responsible for the overall management
and operation of the Group since its inception, the Board
believes that it is in the best interest of the Group to have
Mr. Chung taking up both roles for effective management and
business development.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the overall management of the
business of the Group, formulating the Group’s overall strategic
direction and maintaining appropriate levels of review, challenge
and guidance in its relationship with the management. The
management is delegated with the authority and responsibility
by the Board for the day-to-day management and administration
of the Group. The Board is provided with the updates from
management to give a balanced and understandable assessment
of the performance, recent development and prospects of the
Group on a regular basis.

The Board is the ultimate decision-making body for all matters
material to the Group and discharges its responsibilities on
corporate governance either by itself or the Board Committees
set out in Code Provision D.3.1 of the CG Code which include
the following:

1. to develop and review the policies and practice on corporate
governance of the Group and make recommendations;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management;

3. to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to the Directors and
employees; and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the corporate governance report of the
Company.

Wing Fung Group Asia Limited
Annual Report 2017
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COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises five Directors,
including two executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors (the “INED") as set out below:

Executive Directors
Mr. Chung Chi Keung (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Lai Suk Fan

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Choy Hiu Fai Eric

Mr. Lei For

Mr. Lai Wai Ming

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in “Biographical
Details of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 35 to 40
of this annual report.

In compliance with Rules 5.05A, 5.05(1) and (2) of the GEM
Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three INEDs
representing not less than one-third of the Board and at least
one of whom has appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise. The
Company has received from each INED an annual confirmation
of his independence, and the Company considers such the INEDs
to be independent in accordance with Rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

The Board considers that the balance of power and authority,
accountability and independent decision-making under our
present arrangement will not be impaired because of the diverse
background and experience of our independent non-executive
Directors. Furthermore, the Audit Committee of the Company
(the "Audit Committee”) has free and direct access to the
Company’s external auditor and independent professional
advisers when it considers necessary.
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The composition of the Board is well balanced with each
Director having skills, experience and expertise relevant to the
business operations and development of the Group and from a
variety of backgrounds. There is diversity of educational
background, functional expertise, gender, age and experience. A
Board Diversity Policy of the Company has been adopted by the
Board before the Listing Date which set out the approach to
achieve diversity on the Board and the factors (including but not
limited to race, gender, disability, nationality, religious or
philosophical belief, age, sexual orientation, family status) to be
considered in determining the composition of the Board so as to
ensure that the Board has the appropriate balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives that are required to
support the execution of its business strategy and to maximize
the Board’s effectiveness.

To the best knowledge of the Board, there are no other
relationship (including financial business, family, and other
material/relevant relationships) among the members of the Board
as of the date of this report.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Board meets regularly to determine overall strategies,
receive management updates, approve business plans as well as
financial results and to consider other significant matters.
Management also provides updates to the Board with respect to
the business activities and development of the Group on a
regular basis.
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During the year ended 31 December 2017 and prior to the
Listing, the Board had held meetings to approve, among other
things, matters relating to the Listing. One Board meeting was
held during the Relevant Period and no general meeting has
been held by the Company. The attendance records of the
Directors of the Board meeting during the Relevant Period is set
out as below.

BE_T—tF+-_A=+—HLEFEER
EHE EEERTINMLE (T EHE)
LtHAFREE REBHRBARRC R
—REFEERRUERTRRAG -EF
REBHRALFESFE RN CEIBENT
3o

Number of
Board meetings
attended/
eligible to
Name of Directors attend
BHE&&®K
HEESS
EEnE =P
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Chung Chi Keung EEREE 11
Ms. Lai Suk Fan BRSF Lt 11
Independent Non-executive Directors "o BYHTESVL
Mr. Choy Hiu Fai Eric BB S A 11
Mr. Lei For TR} A4 11
Mr. Lai Wai Ming RERTE 11

Note: The INEDs were appointed on 31 January 2018.

TERMS OF APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION
OF DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors entered into a service agreement
and each of the INEDs signed a letter of appointment with the
Company. Both of the said service agreement and letters of
appointment are for an initial term of three years commencing
from the Listing Date, subject to re-election in accordance with
amended and restated Articles of Association of the Company,
as amended from time to time, (the “Articles”) and termination
in accordance with their respective terms.
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Pursuant to Article 16.18 of the Articles, one-third of the
Directors shall retire from office by rotation at each annual
general meeting of the Company and every Director shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least every three years.
However, a retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election. Any
Director who is appointed by the Board to fill the casual
vacancy and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition
to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next
following general meeting of the Company and shall be eligible
for re-election pursuant to Article 16.2.

As such, Mr. Chung and Ms. Lai Suk Fan will retire from office
as Directors and being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company to be held on 30 May 2018 in accordance with the
Articles and relevant code provision under the CG Code.

CODE OF CONDUCT FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Group has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors on the terms no less exacting than
the required standard of dealing set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company has also made specific
enquiry of all the Directors and all Directors confirmed that they
had complied with the required standard of dealings regarding
transactions during the Relevant Period. The Company was not
aware of any non-compliance with the required standard of
dealings regarding securities transactions by the Directors during
the Relevant Period.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

The Group acknowledges the importance of continuing
professional development for the Directors to extend and refresh
their knowledge and skills. Every Director keeps abreast of
responsibilities as a director of the Company and of the
conduct, business activities and development of the Company.

The Directors are fully aware of the requirement under the Code
Provision A.6.5 of the CG Code regarding the professional
development. During the year ended 31 December 2017, all
Directors attended the training session regarding the duties and
liabilities of directors and listed companies.

Wing Fung Group Asia Limited
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board established three Board committees, namely the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee by resolutions of Directors passed on 31 January
2018, for overseeing particular aspects of the Group's affairs. All
Board committees were established with written terms of
reference in compliance with the relevant code provisions of the
CG Code, which are available at the GEM's website
(www.hkgem.com) and the Company’'s website
(www.wingfunggroup.com).

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 31 January 2018. The
Audit Committee currently consists of three members, which
includes Mr. Choy Hiu Fai Eric, Mr. Lei For and Mr. Lai Wai
Ming, all of which are our INEDs. Mr. Choy Hiu Fai Eric is the
chairman of the Audit Committee, who holds the appropriate
professional qualifications as required under Rules 5.05(2) and
5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to make
recommendation to the Board on appointment or re-
appointment and removal of external auditor; review financial
statements of our Company and judgments in respect of
financial reporting; and oversee the effectiveness of the
procedures of the internal control procedures and risk
management of the Group.

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2017 had been reviewed by the
Audit Committee, which was of the opinion that the audited
consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
compliance with the applicable accounting standards and the
GEM Listing Rules.

No Audit Committee meeting was held during the year ended
31 December 2017. During the Relevant Period, one Audit
Committee meeting was held to review and discuss with the
management and the external auditor the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group, as well as reviewing the
results for the year ended 31 December 2017. All members of
the Audit Committee have attended the said meeting.
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Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) was established on 31 January
2018. The Remuneration Committee consists of three members
and is chaired by an INED and comprises a majority of INEDs in
accordance with the requirements under Rule 5.34 of the GEM
Listing Rules. This includes Mr. Lai Wai Ming, who is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee, Mr. Choy Hiu Fai
Eric, both of whom are our INEDs and our executive Director,
Mr. Chung.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration
policy and structure relating to all Directors, senior management
and general staff of our Group and ensure that none of the
Directors or any their associates determine their own
remuneration.

No Remuneration Committee meeting was held during the year
ended 31 December 2017. During the Relevant Period, one
Remuneration Committee meeting was held to review the
remuneration structure of the Directors. All members of the
Remuneration Committee have attended the said meeting.

Directors and Senior Management’s Remuneration

Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration for the year ended
31 December 2017 are set out in note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5. of the CG Code, the
remuneration of the members of the senior management (other
than the Directors) whose particulars are contained in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report for the year ended
31 December 2017 by band is set out below.
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Nomination Committee

The nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) was established on 31 January 2018. The
Nomination Committee consists of three members and is chaired
by an INED and comprises a majority of INEDs in accordance
with the requirements under Code Provision A.5.1 of the CG
Code. This includes Mr. Lei For, the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and Mr. Lai Wai Ming, both of whom are our INEDs
and our executive Director, Mr. Chung.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board annually,
identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members;
assess independence of independent non-executive Directors and
make recommendation to the Board on matters relating to
appointment, reappointment of Directors.

No Nomination Committee meeting was held during the year
ended 31 December 2017. During the Relevant Period, one
Nomination Committee meeting was held to review the
structure of the Board, assess the independence of the INEDs
and make recommendation to the re-election of the Directors at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. All
members of the Nomination Committee have attended the said
meeting.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Law Pak Hin Edward was appointed as Company Secretary
of the Company on 14 February 2017. Please refer to the
section “Biographical details of Directors and Senior
Management” for his biographical information.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, Mr. Law was not yet
subject to the relevant professional training requirements in
accordance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules as the
Listing Date is after the year ended 31 December 2017.
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DIRECTORS’ AND EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation of
the financial statements which give a true and fair of the state
of affairs of the Group. In preparing the financial statements
which give a true and fair view, it is fundamental that
appropriate accounting policies should be selected and applied
consistently.

The statement of external auditor about its reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set
out in the independent auditor’s report on pages 56 to 63 of
this annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

Our Company recognises the importance of good internal
control procedures and, as disclosed in the Prospectus, intends
to adopt or have adopted a number of measures.

During the year ended 31 December 2017 and prior to the
Listing, we engaged an external independent internal control
advisory firm (i) to review and assess our internal control
systems (including accounting and management systems); and (ii)
to prepare a report to the Company on factual findings and
recommendations for improvements on our internal control
systems over the abovementioned processes and procedures.
During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group has
implemented the relevant internal control measures based on the
recommendation of the external internal control consultant. The
external internal control consultant confirmed such modified and
new internal control procedures are satisfactorily implemented
upon the conduct of follow-up review.

The Group also established a set of risk management policies
and measures. The Group's risk management process starts with
identifying the major risks associated with its business, industry
and market in the ordinary course of business. The Board and
senior management are responsible for identifying the analysing
the risk associated with their respective function, preparing and
measuring risk mitigation plans and reporting the status of risk
management.
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The Audit Committee is also accountable for and will review of
the Company’s financial controls, risk management, internal
control and internal audit system on a regular basis and at least
annually.

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control system of the Company
and its subsidiaries and considers that our internal control
systems and current procedures including the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, and budget of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function are
sufficient in terms of the comprehensiveness, practicability and
effectiveness.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) is the external auditor of
the Company. The Audit Committee is responsible for making
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditor, which is
subject to the approval by the Board and at the general
meetings of the Company by its shareholders. The fee paid or
payable in respect of audit services amount to HK$700,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2017.

Non-audit services provided to the Group during the year ended
31 December 2017 mainly represented the reporting
accountant’s work in connection with the Listing and tax
services provided by Deloitte of approximately HK$2,893,000.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

As one of the measures to safeguard the Shareholders’ interests
and rights, separate resolutions will be proposed at
Shareholders’” meeting on each substantial issue including the re-
election of individual directors. All resolutions put forward at the
Shareholders’ meeting will be conducted by poll pursuant to the
GEM Listing Rules and the poll voting results will be published
on the GEM's website (www.hkgem.com) and the Company’s
website (www.wingfunggroup.com).
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Procedures and Right for Shareholders to Convene
Extraordinary General Meeting

The following procedures for shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting (the "EGM") are subject to the
Articles, and the applicable legislation and regulation, in
particular the GEM Listing Rules:

1. If any or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit
of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at the
general meetings of the Company submit a written
requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company
to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by
the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within
two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition.

2. The Board should within 21 days from the date of the
deposit for the requisition proceed duly to convene the
EGM to the held within a further 21 days. If the Board
failed to do so, the requisition(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

Shareholders may also make reference to Article 12 of the
Articles.

Shareholders who have enquiries regarding the above
procedures may write to the company secretary of the Company
at Units 13 & 14, 9th Floor, Worldwide Industrial Centre, 43-47
Shan Mei Street, Fotan, the New Territories, Hong Kong.

Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as a Director of the Company

If a Shareholder, who is duly qualified to attend and vote at the
general meeting convened to deal with the appointment or
election of Director(s), wishes to propose a person for election
as a Director at that meeting, he/she may lodge a written notice
at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at
Units 13 & 14, 9th Floor, Worldwide Industrial Centre, 43-47
Shan Mei Street, Fotan, the New Territories, Hong Kong for the
attention of the company secretary of the Company. Detailed
procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as
a Director of the Company can be found on the Company’s
website (www.wingfunggroup.com).

Wing Fung Group Asia Limited
Annual Report 2017

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEERRE

BRREBMRREIAEZRFRER

ATERRARBRRESR KRS ([BRERSRIK
S ZEFETHARNBERERMER L
HREGEM Em AR A :

1. AR ERE2ERERREA
RORAERAFERA (ARRFRR
REZBER) T Z—HERREBR
ARRAEEFGIMEBELEEE R
EREEZEARBRREINARE AR
EZERPEANEMNEL: BZK
SRNESZEKEMQ)EARETT -

2. EFERNREXREXREAEA21BR
EXBRABRER2IARBTZRER
FrolAg EREE2FHAENB R
ExeREFARAFBEBEREZEE
FrrAE2ERKAL A B#HAREKTS
XIEHMEE MEZ2ERALTRERES
GCRAMEENAESEMXER
AABMEZERLAEN -

BRERITMAIZRBAG ERE120K

BEEEHLRRRFZRETHREHARTZA
AWE U ABEBH R AR EEF43-47
EEIRIR TP DOEI3RIAE »

BRREBABRSEFAQAADNESZERF

WEERERIRAEANEREETM AR
CEREREERFCREBN G LIREHE
BAAATARES  FRAEXERBAER
NRABBETELEEMBE (MILABTBETAN
&L B543-475 IR BR T3 0913 14
) UIRBEARABIZARMETE -BH
RERBAAELERAGES ZFMAEFT
R 2 & 48 U (www.wingfunggroup.com) &

25



26

IF::
0

g
]

5 SN AR A
5

ol

f-\—

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TEERRS

Procedure for Putting Forward Proposals at Shareholders’
Meetings

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to make proposals
or move resolutions at Shareholders’ meeting under the Articles
or the laws of the Cayman lIslands. Shareholders who wish to
make proposals or move a resolution may, however, convene an
EGM in accordance with the “Procedures and Rights for
Shareholders to Convene Extraordinary General Meeting” set out
above.

Investors Relations

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining an ongoing
dialogue with the Shareholders through various channels
including general meetings, announcements and corporate
communications such as the annual report, interim report and
circulars. Latest information of the Group are also available on
the Company’s website.

The Company has adopted its Shareholders’ communications
policy. Enquiries and proposals from Shareholders, investors and
all stakeholders are welcomed. Enquires to the Board or the
Company may be sent by post to the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong at Units 13 & 14, 9th Floor,
Worldwide Industrial Centre, 43-47 Shan Mei Street, Fotan, the
New Territories, Hong Kong. Such written enquires or proposal
with full name, contact details and identification must deposit
and send to said address.

Any enquires in relation to the shareholdings, share transfer or
registration to the Company’s may contact the Company’s share
registrar. Their contact details are set out in the section headed
“Corporate Information” of this annual report.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company first adopted its memorandum and articles of
association on 29 September 2016. Save for the adoption of the
amended and restated memorandum and articles of association
of the Company for the purpose of the Listing on 31 January
2018, during the year ended 31 December 2017 and the
Relevant Period, there had been no significant changes in the
constitutional documents of the Company. The latest version of
the memorandum and articles of association of the Company is
available at the Company’s website and the website of the
Stock Exchange.
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Introduction

This is the first Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG")
Report presented by the Group since its Listing in February
2018. This report aims at providing a detailed account of the
Group's effort, policy standing and contribution towards the
Group's sustainability performance for the financial year ended
31 December 2017. To foster a stronger and longer relationship
with the stakeholders, we had, to different extent and as
deemed appropriate by the management of the Group, assessed
and addressed the concerns and needs of the stakeholders. The
Group has the highest regard to the sustainability aspects of the
operation, and considers that as an intricate part of the
business. This report was prepared with reference to and in
accordance with the “Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide” set out in Appendix 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

A. Environmental

The Group is principally engaged as a subcontractor for
the provision of supply, installation and fitting-out services
of MVAC system for buildings in Hong Kong and Macau.
Being so the Group does not have any factory operations
nor engage in any operations that involve substantial
effect on the environment, aside from consumption of
resources by the office administrative operations.
Nevertheless, the Group pay due considerations and efforts
towards the compliance with applicable laws and
regulations in Hong Kong and Macau, and actively
cooperate with the main contractor in the environmental
protection requirements. Majority of the work of the
Group is conducted through its sub-contractors, whereby
as part of the project delivery, apart from confirming
construction quality, the project team also monitor the
environmental performance of its subcontractors. One of
the measures includes regularly check to ensure that
environmental protection requirements imposed by various
parties, including the main contractor, the construction
site, and the Group, are met.
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A. Environmental (Continued)

A.1

Emissions

The major source of waste comes from the
construction work, whereby the Group abides by the
regulations imposed by the main contractor and the
respective site. The staff and work team follow on-
site regulations on waste disposal, and would always
inquire the project management team upon any
difficulties encountered. The project team would also
ensure the compliance with the applicable provisions
of the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 359, Laws
of Hong Kong) and its subsidiary regulations,
particularly the Waste Disposal (Charges for Disposal
of Construction Waste) and the Waste Disposal
(Chemical Waste) (General) Regulations.

The main source of the Group’s greenhouse gas
emissions is derived from direct emission from the
mobile combustion sources (“Scope 1”), indirect
emission from acquired electricity emissions (“Scope
2") and other indirect emissions (“Scope 3"). The
total greenhouse gases emissions from Scope 1,
Scope 2 and Scope 3 for the year ended
31 December 2017 were 6,855 kg, 20,715kg and
1,776 kg respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, air
emission for nitrogen oxides (“NOx"), sulphur oxides
("SOx") and respiratory suspended particles (“RSP”,
also known as Particulate Matter (“PM")) were
about 1,569g, 37g and 116g respectively, which
were mainly produced as a result of company
vehicles usage.
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Environmental (Continued)

A.2

A3

Use of resources

Driven by the belief in maintaining sustainability, the
Group strives to ensure efficient use of resources,
including energy, materials and other auxiliary
materials. Every effort was taken to ensure that
material ordered is ‘just right" for the intended
project, and endeavor to employ excess material to
reduce wastage. Total electricity consumption for
2017 was 32,881 kWh and total water consumption
for 2017 was of the Group were and 35 cubic
meters in the year ended 31 December 2017.

The Group are one of the advocates of BIM
technology which could significantly boost the
efficiency of the use of resources. BIM technology is
a process involving the generation and management
of digital representations of physical and functional
characteristics of buildings. This envisages virtual
construction of a facility prior to its actual physical
construction, in order to reduce uncertainty, with
opportunities to pre-fabricate or pre-assemble some
systems off-site waste can be minimized on-site and
products delivered on a just-in-time basis rather than
being stockpiled on-site.

Environmental and natural resources

There are several environmental concerns that are of
particular relevance to the Group, such as, air
conditioning, refrigeration and heat pump
technologies which are increasingly switching to
more environmentally friendly refrigerant gases with
lower ozone depletion potential and lower global
warming potential. The Group is determined to stay
abreast with the higher requirements on MVAC
equipment and installation process. In delivering the
works, the project team would ensure that all
services are conducted in an environmentally
responsible manner and ensure strict adherence to
the applicable laws in Hong Kong and Macau, such
as the Noise Control Ordinance (Chapter 40 of the
Laws of Hong Kong).
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A. Environmental (Continued)

A.3

Environmental and natural resources (Continued)

Several other specific regulations directly related to
the operations, including the requirement of using
lead-free solders for copper pipes at freshwater
Inside Services is specified in the standard as
stipulated in the Waterworks Regulations. Another
regulation example that the Group complies with is
the VOC regulation imposed by the Environmental
Protection Department. VOCs (volatile organic
compounds) are found in wide variety of everyday
products such as solvent-based paints/coatings,
adhesives, sealants, printing inks, many consumer
products, organic solvents and petroleum products.

The Group does not ignore the opportunity to
contribute to sustainability at the office space, and
the Group drives to reduce emission by reducing

consumption and adopting low resources

alternatives. Measures included:

o promote emission reduction measures
advocating posters at prominent places of the
office

o enhance environmental awareness of the

employees through various means of internal
communications

o advocate the use of double-sided printing and
photocopying to reduce paper consumption,
and encourage reuse single-sided paper

o reduce the use of disposable and non-recyclable
products
o conduct regular maintenance and inspection of

vehicles
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Social

B.1

B.2

Employment

The human resource team is well versed in the
employment, occupational safety and labour
standards in Hong Kong and Macau, and is
committed to ensuring the employment of the Group
is executed accordingly. We offer equal opportunities
to applicants regardless of personal traits such as age
and gender. Management of the Group has strong
belief in the value of close communication and
maintain a constant connection with the employees
of the Group on any employment issues. There had
been no non-compliance incidents in relation to
employment being reported to the management this
year.

Health and safety

The Group is committed to strictly comply with all
relevant health and safety legislation. Although the
works carried out by the Group and its sub-
contractors do not involve heavy machinery or
manual handling of hazardous material, the staff
teams are exposed to relatively higher health and
safety risks. The project management team is
committed to conducting on-going risk assessments
to identify and manage these risks, with the
objectives of achieving the goal of zero accidents.
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B.

Social (Continued)

B.2

Health and safety (Continued)

In most cases, the main contractor or the
management of the construction site would already
have developed and deployed to the staff teams sets
of site safety plan and instructions and requires
compliance by all subcontractors. Management of the
Group, and ensure the subcontractors, to strictly
observe these safety plan and directives. Safety
instructions for different operations are well-
communicated to the employees. In accordance with
the safety requirements of the Labour Department
and the main contractor, we provide the site staff
with qualified safety equipment, including safety
helmets, goggles and other necessary safety
precautions to ensure the occupational safety of the
staff. Personal protective equipment specific to the
type of work being performed is made available and
distributed. personal protective equipment. The site
foremen are responsible for ensuring proper use and
maintenance of the equipment. The Group extends
the considerations and assessments to the
subcontractors and the project team maintain close
communication to provide the staff and
subcontractors with the latest safety information.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2017, the
Group recorded 2 cases of work-related injury, with
no fatalities. The accident rate per 1,000 workers is
3.62 in Hong Kong and 27.78 in Macau.
Management of the Group has not noted any
significant non-compliances on occupational health
and safety.
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Social (Continued)

B.3

B.4

B.5

Development and training

The Group is devoted to creating a learning culture
among the teams, so as to enable the staff in
developing their career and enabling them to reach
their goals. The Group therefore from time to time
organize the teams to attend external training, such
as the BIM induction course, I1ISO 26000 Guidance on
Social Responsibility course, and the Corporate Social
Capital in Practice workshop. These among other
internal training were welcomed by the teams.

Labour standards

The Group has a straight policy on employment,
whereby we would only hire employees in
accordance with the minimum working age with
valid citizen identity in strict compliance with the
requirements of applicable employment law of the
jurisdictions the Group has an operation in.

Supply chain management

The materials used by the Group are mainly pipes
and other fittings. Suppliers were selected based on
factors such as material quality, delivery status and
past performance from the list of pre-qualified
suppliers. The Group put an equal amount of
emphasis on their stance in sustainability and
whether its product complies with the various
relevant regulations and laws. Further the Group
ensures that it could meet with the main
contractors’ requirements. For the selection of
subcontractors, the Group had already established
long term relationship with several reputable local
teams, and the Group imposes the above-mentioned
stance in the evaluation and selection process. The
communication channels with these parties are
seamless and the Group ensures that they who share
the commitment to sustainable practices.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE -HERER

B.

wE

Social (Continued)

B.6

B.7

B.8

Product responsibility

The Group is responsible to the main contractor for
the works the Group had completed, and had not
encountered any issues of product recall or quality
issue. Wing Fung HK was accredited with 1SO 9001:
2008 (quality management) quality management
system standard for its quality management system.
Management of the Group believes that the effective
quality management systems as well as good
compliance track record would improve the overall
service quality and profitability.

Anti-corruption

Any forms of bribery, forgery and misappropriation
of materials including intellectual property are strictly
prohibited. The Group would and
written warnings to persons who confirmed of such
violation, and in extreme case, summary dismissal.
Management of the Group ensures that the teams of
the Group follow the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance, and the Group had issued directives and
instructions in handling this and similar situations.
Various form of training sessions is conducted by the
Management to reinforce the knowledge of
recognizing and dealing with bribery and corruption.
A whistleblowing channel was made available which
allows employees as well as third parties who deal
with the Group to report any case of unethical
behaviour to the director on an anonymous basis.

issue verbal

Community investment

Since the recent listing on GEM of the Stock
Exchange, the Group has been exploring
opportunities to contribute to the community, and
for the time being the Group focus its resources in
contributing to the business community by sharing
industry best practices and knowledge.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF
DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EENEREEEBRFE

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. CHUNG Chi Keung ($%&34), aged 61, is our executive
Director, the chairman of our Board and the chief executive
officer of our Company. He is also the co-founder of our Group
in 1996. Mr. Chung is primarily responsible for formulating the
overall business strategies and overseeing the business and
operation of our Group. Mr. Chung is also a director of all
members of our Group.

Mr. Chung has over 42 years of experience in the supply,
installation and fitting-out of MVAC system. In March 1974,
Mr. Chung joined Young's Engineering Co., Ltd as an apprentice
and received training at the Major Air-conditioning Service
Department. Upon the completion of his apprenticeship, he
continued to work in the same department until July 1980. In
1987, Mr. Chung co-founded Wing Fung Engineering Limited. In
July 1996 and March 2007, Mr. Chung established Wing Fung
HK and Botop Macau, respectively and has been managing the
business and operation of the two companies in Hong Kong and
Macau. From 2003 to 2006, Mr Chung was a member of the
senior management of Dickson Group Holdings Limited
(currently known as Richly Field China Development Limited), a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 313), and was responsible for managing the operation of
certain construction projects in Hong Kong.

Mr. Chung owns 78.87% of the issued share capital of Wing
Fung Capital Limited, one of the substantial Shareholders, which
owns 430,500,000 Shares. Accordingly, Mr. Chung is deemed to
be interested in all the Shares owned by Wing Fung Capital
Limited under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of the laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO™).
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Ms. LAl Suk Fan (%3 Z¥), aged 55, was appointed as our
executive Director on 24 March 2017. She is primarily
responsible for overseeing the administration and human
resources functions of our Group.

Ms. Lai studied at Lee Wai Lee Technical Institute of the
Vocational Training Council on a part-time basis and was
awarded a certificate for accounting technicians in August
1998. In 1998, Ms. Lai obtained a certificate in Accounting-
Third Level issued by the London Chamber of Commerce and
Industry Examinations Board. Ms. Lai also joined a distance-
learning programme and received a Higher Certificate in
Business Management from the Hong Kong Management
Association in June 20009.

Ms. Lai has over 36 years of experience in administration,
accounting and human resources. Ms. Lai has worked as a junior
clerk at Teamlight Enterprises (HK) Ltd. from June 1980 to
March 1982, then she joined Shirtmaster Limited as a
purchasing clerk from May 1982 to February 1987. During June
1987 to July 1999, Ms. Lai has been working in Wing Fung
Engineering Limited and Wing Fung HK and her last position
was an administration officer when she left the companies in
July 1999. From February 2001 to June 2011, Ms. Lai worked at
Artsuc M&E Limited as the administration manager. In July
2011, Ms. Lai rejoined our Group as the administration manager
of Wing Fung HK.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. CHOY Hiu Fai Eric (28 #8), aged 40, was appointed as
our independent non-executive Directors on 31 January 2018
and is mainly responsible for supervising and providing
independent judgement to the Board.

Mr. Choy has more than 14 years of experience in accounting.
Mr. Choy obtained a Bachelor of Business Administration in
Accounting and Finance from the University of Hong Kong in
November 2000. Upon graduation, he joined Arthur Andersen &
Co, an accounting firm, in September 2000. Mr. Choy then
continued his career with PricewaterhouseCoopers as a senior
associate in the assurance and business advisory services
department in July 2002. In 2004, Mr. Choy joined Procon CPA
Limited as a managing director and he is now the head of the
company’s operation in Hong Kong and Shenzhen.

Mr. Choy has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since February 2005. He was also
admitted as a member of the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants in the United States in June 2002. Mr. Choy
has been a Certified Tax Adviser of the Taxation Institute of
Hong Kong since 30 September 2010.

Mr. Choy has been an independent non-executive Director of the
Hong Kong Building and Loan Agency Limited, a company
currently listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 145) since July 2016.
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Mr. LEI For (RI%}), aged 39, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Directors on 31 January 2018 and is mainly
responsible for supervising and providing independent
judgement to the Board.

Mr. Lei has more than 15 years of experience in investment
banking, corporate finance and investment matters. Mr. Lei
obtained his Bachelor of Social Science from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong in November 2001. He started his
career with L.P. Lammas Asia Limited from September 2001 to
October 2002. After that, he worked in MasterLink Securities
(Hong Kong) Corporation Limited as an executive from
December 2002 to February 2005. In February 2005, Mr. Lei
joined Haitong International Capital Limited (previously known as
Taifook Capital Limited and Tai Fook Capital Limited) as an
executive, and he left as a manager in May 2007. From June
2007 to October 2010, he was appointed as the senior manager
and then the vice president of the corporate finance department
in ABCI Securities Company Limited. Mr. Lei then carried on his
career with Cinda (BVI) Limited as the corporate finance director
of Cinda International Capital Limited from October 2010 to
April 2011. In April 2011 to December 2016, he joined CIMB
Securities Limited as a director in investment banking. Mr. Lei is
currently the managing director of Apastron Capital Limited.
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Mr. LAl Wai Ming (2 {&8), aged 42, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Directors on 31 January 2018 and is
mainly responsible for supervising and providing independent
judgement to the Board.

Mr. Lai graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
November 1997 and was awarded a Bachelor of Science degree
in Building Technology and Management. Then he obtained a
Master of Science in Real Estate from the University of Hong
Kong in December 1999. In February 2002, Mr. Lai further
obtained a diploma in building surveying from the College of
Estate Management in the United Kingdom, which is a long-
distance programme. Mr. Lai was also certified as a registered
professional engineer by the Engineer Registration Board in April
2006, and he was admitted as a member of the Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers and the Chartered Institute of Building in
December 2004 and May 2005, respectively.

Mr. Lai has over 19 years of experience in building service and
engineering. Mr. Lai joined Gammon Construction Limited in
July 1998 and he was the assistant project manager when he
left the company in November 2007. He then worked at
Hongkong Land Limited, a property investment, management
and development group listed in London, Bermuda and
Singapore, from November 2007 to July 2011 as an assistant
project manager. In July 2011, Mr. Lai joined a property
developer as a project manager in Hong Kong and he was a
senior project manager when he left the company in August
2017. In February 2018, Mr. Lai has joined a construction
company in Hong Kong as a project director.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The following are the senior management team of the Group:

Mr. LAW Pak Hin Edward (Z#HIf), aged 31, joined our
Group and was appointed as the chief financial officer of our
Group on 12 September 2016. Mr. Law is primarily responsible
for overseeing the finance and accounting functions of our
Group.

In July 2010, Mr. Law obtained a Bachelor of Commerce from
the Australian National University in Australia. He was admitted
as an associate of the CPA Australia in August 2010 and was
further admitted as a full member in July 2013. Mr. Law has
more than 7 years of experience in finance and accounting.
Before joining our Group, Mr. Law has joined BDO Limited as an
associate in December 2010 and he was an assistant manager
when he left BDO Limited in December 2014. Then he carried
on his career with Ernst & Young in December 2014 and he
was a senior accountant in the assurance department when he
left the firm in August 2016.

Mr. YEUNG Man Tsun (# X &), aged 33, was appointed as
our senior project engineer on 1 March 2017 and is primarily
responsible for overseeing and managing project execution and
operation.

Mr. Yeung obtained a Bachelor of degree in Building Services
and Sustainable Engineering at the University of Central
Lancashire in December 2012, which is a long-distance learning
programme. Mr. Yeung has more than 9 years of experience in
engineering. He joined our Group as an assistant engineer at
Botop Macau in July 2007. From August 2010 to February
2017, Mr. Yeung has worked at Wing Fung HK as an engineer.
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The Directors hereby presented their report and audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2017.

CORPORATE REORGANISATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 29 September 2016
under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.

The companies now comprising the Group underwent a
reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”) to rationalise the structure
of the Group in preparation for the Listing. Pursuant to the
Reorganisation, the Company became the holding company of
the subsidiaries now comprising the Group. Further details of
the Reorganisation are set out in the section headed “History,
Development and Reorganisation” in the Prospectus. The Shares
were listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange on 27 February
2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Group is principally engaged as subcontractor for the provision
of supply, installation and fitting-out services of MVAC systems
for buildings in Hong Kong and Macau. The projects of the
Group can generally be categorized into public sector projects
and private sector projects. A list of the subsidiaries of the
Company and details of their principal activities of are set out in
note 29 to the consolidated financial statements. There were no
significant changes to the Group's principal activities during the
year.

Wing Fung Group Asia Limited
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For discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”),
including a fair review of business, discussion of the principal
risks and uncertainties facing by the Group, its key relationship
with employees, customers, suppliers and subcontractors, an
indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business
and an analysis of the Group’s performance during the year
using financial key performance indicators, can be found in
sections headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out
on pages 7 to 13 of this annual report and the discussion of its
environmental policies and performance, can be found in section
headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this
annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group's operations
are mainly carried out in Hong Kong and Macau. The Group
accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and regulations in
Hong Kong and Macau and the respective places of
incorporation of the Company and its subsidiaries. During the
year and up to the date of this annual report, the Board was
not aware of any noncompliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operations of the Group.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year ended
31 December 2017 by operating segment is set out in note 6 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income on page 64 of this annual report.

The Board did not recommend the payment of final dividend of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2017 to the
Shareholders.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last two years, as extracted from the consolidated
financial statements and the Prospectus, is set out on page 148
of this annual report.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements during the year ended 31 December
2017 in the plant and equipment of the Group are set out in
note 14 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year ended 31 December 2017
in the share capital of the Company are set out in note 22 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

As at 31 December 2017, the Company’s reserve available for
distribution to the shareholders, calculated in accordance with
the Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands amounted to
approximately HK$17,995,000.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENT

No equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Group; or
existed during the year ended 31 December 2017.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

As at
Stock

U]

31 December 2017, the Shares were not yet listed on the
Exchange.

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares or
Debentures

Immediately after the Listing, the interests and short
positions of the Directors and chief executive of the
Company in the Shares, the underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO),
which were required to be notified the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part Xv
of the SFO (including the interest or short positions which
any such director or chief executive was taken or deemed
to have under such provision of the SFO) or which were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or which were
required, pursuant to standard of dealings by Directors
referred in Rule 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were
as follows:

Number of the
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Capacity/Nature of Shares held/ Long/short Percentage of
Name of Shareholder Interest interested in position Shareholding
e/ #E

RREAR B " RENROBE &7 %E BRBE D
Mr. Chung Interest in controlled 430,500,000 Long position 75%

corporation (Note)
ERE HEHEEE S Sy

(Ktit)
Note: i

The 430,500,000 Shares are held by Wing Fung Capital Limited,
which is owned as to 78.87% by Mr. Chung. Therefore, Mr. Chung is
deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Wing Fung Capital
Limited for the purposes of the SFO. Mr. Chung is the Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer and one of the controlling shareholders of the
Company.

#430,500,000/% A% ¥ FAWing Fung Capital
Limited¥ A * Wing Fung Capital Limited /4%
S EHEETS87% - AL HEH RHE KO
ME @4 % £ #1418 & M®Wing Fung Capital
Limited TR BRI FTE R MDA B R - 5T 4E
REBFRTBRERRAERRERKREZ —
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Save as disclosed above, immediately after the Listing,
none of the Directors nor chief executive of the Company
has registered any interests and short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) (i) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Rule 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’ Interests  (ll)
and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures

So far as the Directors are aware, immediately after the
Listing, the following persons/entities (other than the
Directors and chief executive of the Company) had or
deemed to taken to have an interest or short position in
the Shares or underlying Shares which were recorded in
the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or which
would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Division
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and the GEM Listing Rules.

Number of the

Wing Fung Group Asia Limited
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Capacity/Nature of Shares held/ Long/short Percentage of
Name of Shareholder Interest interested in position Shareholding
e -]
REHA B EENE REWBROBE # %A BHREDHL
Ms. Chung Mei Lin Interest of persons 430,500,000 Long position 75%
Joanne (“Ms. Chung”) acting in concert
(note)
BEELLT —BTPALER S}
(rEgx=xl) (Kt7)
Wing Fung Capital Beneficial owner 430,500,000 Long position 75%
Limited
Wing Fung Capital EnEEA S}

Limited
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Note:

On 29 May 2017, Mr. Chung and Ms. Chung entered into a deed of
acting in concert (the “Deed of Acting in Concert”) to acknowledge
and confirm, amongst other things, that they are parties acting in
concert (within the meaning under the Takeovers Code) in respect of
Wing Fung Capital Limited, Wing Fung Engineering (H.K.) Limited and
Botop Engineering (Macau) Limited since their respective
incorporation. Pursuant to the arrangement under the Deed of Acting
in Concert, Mr. Chung and Ms. Chung are deemed to be interested in
the Shares held by each other by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, immediately after the Listing, no
person, other than the Directors and chief executive of the
Company whose interests are set out in the section “Directors’
and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in the Shares,
Underlying Shares or Debentures” above, had notified the
Company of an interest or short position in the Shares,
underlying Shares or debenture of the Company that was
required to be recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO or which
would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

ARRANGEMENT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a part to any arrangements to enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

Hyat

RZZ—+HFRAZ+IB @EERELT
I —BITESRE ([—BITBRE]) - ER
& #E E(E F 8 #F) RWing Fung Capital
L|m|ted KETR(EB)ERAFAREATL
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BHERBEGKRY RB-ROTPEZBET XL
P ERAERELXLTHE RN EAFRG S
HHEER -

R EXFIEEIN BB LHR KR
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND SUB-
CONTRACTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2017, so far as the
Company is aware, the aggregate revenue attributable to our
five largest customers and the largest customer accounted for
approximately 99.8% (2016: 99.6%) and 61.5% (2016: 31.5%),
respectively, of the Group’s total revenue for the year ended
31 December 2017. Purchases from the Group’'s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 38.5% (2016: 26.3%) of
the Group’s total costs of services for the year ended
31 December 2017 and the purchase from the largest supplier
included therein amounted to approximately 10.2% (2016:
7.7%). Sub-contracting fees from the Group’s five largest sub-
contractors accounted for approximately 45.0% (2016: 58.4%)
of the Group’s total costs of services for the year ended
31 December 2017 and the sub-contracting fee from the largest
sub-contractor included therein amounted to approximately
12.5% (2016: 15.2%).

None of the Directors, or any of his close associates (as defined
under the GEM Listing Rules) or shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital), had any interest in the Group's
five largest customers, suppliers and subcontractors during the
year ended 31 December 2017.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS
OF LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption
available to the shareholders of the Company by reason of their
holding of the Company’s securities.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2017 and up
to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. Chung Chi Keung (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Lai Suk Fan

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Choy Hiu Fai Eric

Mr. Lei For

Mr. Lai Wai Ming

Wing Fung Group Asia Limited
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Notes:

(1) Ms. Lai Suk Fan was appointed as an executive director of the Company
on 24 March 2017.

(2) Mr. Choy Hiu Fai Eric, Mr. Lei For and Mr. Lai Wai Ming were appointed
as director of the Company with effect from 31 January 2018.

(3) Mr. Tan Kean Ee and Mr. Kung Yuk Tung were appointed as non-
executive directors of the Company on 24 March 2017 and they
resigned subsequently as the non-executive directors of the Company
on 24 October 2017.

Information regarding Directors’ emoluments is set out in note
11 to the consolidated financial statements.

An annual confirmation of independence pursuant to the
requirements under Rule 5.09 the GEM Listing Rules has been
received from each of the INEDs.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Brief biographical details of the Directors including the changes
in the Directors’ information subsequent to the date of the
Prospectus issued on 12 February 2018 are included in the
biographical details are set out on pages 35 to 40 of this
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICES CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date and will continue thereafter
unless and until terminated by the Company or Director or the
Director has not been re-elected as a director of the Company
or has been removed by shareholders of the Company at any of
its general meeting or is disqualified from acting as a director of
the Company in accordance with the articles of association of
the Company. Each INEDs was appointed under a letter of
appointment for a fixed term of three years commencing from
the Listing Date unless terminated by the Company or the
Director in accordance with the terms as set out in the letter of
appointment.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors proposed for re-
election at the forthcoming AGM has or is proposed to have a
service contracts with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment compensation, other than the statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ RETIREMENT AND RE-ELECTION

Pursuant to Article 16.18 of the Articles, at every annual general
meeting, one third of the Directors for the time being (or if
their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any
Director appointed pursuant to Article 16.2 or Article 16.3 shall
not be taken into account in determining which Directors are to
retire by rotation. A retiring Director shall retain office until the
close of the meeting at which he retires and shall be eligible for
re-election thereat. The Company at any annual general meeting
at which any Directors retire may fill the vacated office by
electing a like number of persons to be Directors.

Pursuant to Article 16.2 of the Articles, the Board shall have the
power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person
as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to
the Board. Any Director so appointed shall hold office only until
the next following general meeting of the Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election at that meeting. Further,
according to Article 16.3 of the Articles, the Company may from
time to time in general meeting by ordinary resolution increase
or reduce the number of Directors but so that the number of
Directors shall not be less than two. Subject to the provisions of
these Articles and the Companies Law, the Company may by
ordinary resolution elect any person to be a Director either to fill
a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Directors. Any
Director so appointed shall hold office only until the next
following general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election

In accordance with Article 16.18 of the Articles, Mr. Chung and
Ms. Lai Suk Fan shall retire by rotation at the forthcoming AGM
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM.

Wing Fung Group Asia Limited
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS, CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and elsewhere in this annual
report, no transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which the
Director or an entity connected the Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at any time
during the year ended 31 December 2017.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there were no contract
of significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries
and any controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries or any
contracts of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder
or any of its subsidiaries.

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee is set up for reviewing the
Group’'s emolument policy and structure for making
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration
policy and structure relating to all Directors and senior
management of the Group. The remunerations of the Directors
are determined by reference to the Group’'s operating results,
comparable market statistics, the responsibilities and duties
assumed by each Director as well as their individual
performance.
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COMPETING INTERESTS

The Directors are not aware of any business or interest of
Directors nor the controlling shareholder of the Company nor
any of their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) that compete or may compete with the business of
the Group and any conflicts of interests which any such person
has or may have with the Group during the year ended
31 December 2017.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

The Company confirms that the non-competition undertaking of
Mr. Chung, Ms. Chung and Wing Fung Capital Limited, details
of which were set out in the Prospectus, has been fully
complied and enforced since the Listing and up to the date of
this report. The Board also confirms that there are no other
matters in relation to the aforesaid undertaking which should be
brought to the attention of the Shareholders and the potential
investors.

INTEREST OF COMPLIANCE ADVISER

As at the date of this report, except for (i) the participation of
TC Capital International Limited (“TC Capital”) as the sponsor in
relation to the listing of the Company on GEM; (i) the
compliance adviser agreement entered into between the
Company and TC Capital dated 21 April 2017, neither TC
Capital nor any of its directors, employees or close associates
had any interests in relation to the Group which requires to be
notified to the Company pursuant to Rule 6A.32 of GEM Listing
Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company not any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed an of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 December 2017.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The Shares were listed on GEM on 27 February 2018. The net
proceeds from the Listing (after deducting the underwriting fees
and expenses related to the Share Offer) amounted to
approximately HK$27.2 million will be used for the intended
purposes as set out in the section headed “Future Plans and Use
of Proceeds” of the Prospectus. As at the date of this report,
the unused net proceeds were placed with banks in Hong
Kong.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

Every Director shall be entitled under the Company’s Articles to
be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him or her as a
Director in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal,
in which judgment is given in his or her favour, or in which he
or she is acquitted. Such provision was in force since the
adoption of the Articles upon the Listing Date and remains in
force as at the date of this report.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liability and
costs associated with defending any proceedings which may be
brought against the Directors.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions of the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2017 are set out in note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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With regards to the transactions referred to in paragraph (iii)
therein, as at 31 December 2017, Mr. Chung provided
performance guarantee in the amount of HK$4,870,000 in favor
of the Group in respect of a construction contract (the
“Guarantee”). Since Mr. Chung is a Director and a controlling
Shareholder, he is a connected person of the Company for the
purposes of Chapter 20 the GEM Listing Rules and the provision
of the Guarantee by Mr. Chung constitutes a continuing
connected transaction of the Company. The Directors are of the
view that the Guarantee, being a form of financial assistance
provided by Mr. Chung for the benefit of our Group, has been
conducted on normal commercial terms or better and such
financial assistance is not secured by our assets. Accordingly,
pursuant to Rule 20.88 of the GEM Listing Rules, such
transaction will be fully exempted from all the reporting,
announcement and independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Other than the aforesaid, the related party transactions set out
in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements had been
terminated prior to the Listing and therefore do not constitute
connected transactions of the Company as defined under the
GEM Listing Rules for the year ended 31 December 2017.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

To the best knowledge of the Directors and based on the
information that it publicly available to the Company, 25% of
the Company’s issued capital were held by public as at the date
of this report.
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AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2017 have been audited by Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”). Deloitte shall retire in the forthcoming
AGM and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A
resolution for the re-appointment of Deloitte as auditor of the
Company will be proposed at the AGM.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the corporate governance of the Company are set out
in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” on pages
14 to 26 of this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the laws of the Cayman Islands which oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or in existence during the year ended
31 December 2017.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2017, our Group did not
make any charitable or other donations.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the events after the reporting period are set out in
are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to ascertain the entitlements to attend and vote at the
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed
from Thursday, 24 May 2018 to Wednesday, 30 May 2018,
both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of
the Company will be registered. Shareholders of the Company
are reminded to ensure all properly executed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30pm on
Wednesday, 23 May 2018.

On behalf of the Board
Wing Fung Group Asia Limited
CHUNG Chi Keung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 March 2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBE RS

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF WING FUNG GROUP ASIA
LIMITED

REEEMTIMNERAA

(Incorporated in Cayman Islands as an exempted company with
limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wing
Fung Group Asia Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 64 to
147, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2017, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2017, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current year. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming

Wing Fung Group Asia Limited
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our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Key audit matters

BREZEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EECERNMEERBREERER

Revenue and profit recognition of construction contracts and amounts due from (to) customers for contract works

BEEEHE W e R FIFIEW (V) EFPEH T IEAE

We identified the revenue and profit recognition of
construction contracts and amounts due from (to)
customers for contract work as a key audit matter
due to significant management judgements and
estimation are required in the determination of the
total outcome of construction contracts and the
stage of completion of construction works.

TEBRERBRNEES KU & Kom T A U ()
EFENIRFERERERZE  RARRTEE
BENNBRERREEATRETKBERE F21E
B KT I AT R A AT e

The Group’s contract revenue and profit from
construction contracts amounted to
HK$166,082,000 and HK$32,569,000 respectively for
the year ended 31 December 2017 as disclosed in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. As disclosed in note
15 to the consolidated financial statements, the
carrying amounts of amounts due from and
amounts due to customers for contract works of the
Group amounted to HK$10,234,000 and
HK$4,422,000 respectively as at 31 December 2017.

HE-T—+tF+-A=+—HLFE  EEER
RIBEAR D& K Mom 9 5Bl /166,082,00078
7T 532,569,000/ 7T (R 47l 18 o [ Ho A 2 T W 25 =
FriER) c MR & M MERMFTISHEE K%
—tF+ZA=+—H EEEEKRENEFR
BT ERIBRREES 5 /10,234,000 7T &
4,422,000/ 7T °

Our procedures in relation to the revenue and profit
recognition of construction contracts and amounts
due from (to) customers for contract works
included:

EEHREGANBEREFRRNER () EFE
HITIRFIENEF B

° Evaluating the estimation of revenue and profit
recognised on construction contracts, on a sample
basis, by:

o HUTHEMBEFEEESONE RS K
A E

—  Discussing with project managers of the
Group who are responsible for the
preparation of the budgets of construction
contracts to evaluate the reasonableness of
their bases of estimation of the budget
revenue and costs and the stage of
completion of the projects;

— HEERBGHFAERSRKARKRIEE TK
HEERHEBESNEEYN SES£EEAKRE
AR AR RS EEE

—  Checking the accuracy of budgeted revenue
to underlying construction contracts entered
into with customers, and other supporting
documents and correspondences in respect
of variations in construction works;

— REEXPEINEESHEBREZE RIS
WREE UAREMEFERETIREEETNEH
S R B
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Key audit matters

BREELEER

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EECERNNERBEREELER

Revenue and profit recognition of construction contracts and amounts due from (to) customers for contract

works (Continued)
#E iR

As set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group recognised contract revenue
and profit of construction contracts by reference to
the stage of completion of the contract activity at
the end of the reporting period, measured based on
the surveys of work performed to date relative to
the estimated total contract revenue.
Notwithstanding that management reviews and
revises the estimates of both construction contract
revenue and costs of the construction contract as
the contract progresses, the actual outcome of the
contract in terms of its total revenue and total
contract costs may be higher or lower than the
estimates and this will affect the revenue and profit
recognised.

WanimE M mAMFSE - EEERBHRENAR
MENTRRTKERBERRES NN G HWE Ks
Ml -mERNSEIRBEESETKIRAIEER

HEL R W e Rog FIFEW (1) & F & # LIEHIE (&)
—  Evaluating the reasonableness of budgeted

costs, including (i) agreeing the budget costs
latest quotations
with

to underlying contracts,
and other correspondences
subcontractors/suppliers/vendors, and

comparing the budgeted costs with actual
costs recorded, taking into account the stage

of completion reached;
— FTEBEKAHASERE > 2EOREEHES
BE REREFNABEAN  HRE

RHHEFEERR (D BRFEEX KRR ER

EEMA HPBERTETHEE:

—  Evaluating the reasonableness
estimated profit margins of

any significant difference identified; and

of the
selected
contracts by taking into account the profit
margins of similar projects and investigating

BB EEstE #REEEREANERS
Bl R BRI REAH W KBRS OKRAMMEE -
AW E RBENRANE - BN ERERATE
2R SRR EET - WS B PR S MO A o

— BRI RFEFEEE AN EERRFHEDBEA TR
EAER FEEEANNMGEFANBERES

a1 &

Checking the accuracy of the amounts due from

(to) customers for contract works by agreeing the
amount of contract costs recorded to supplier
invoices and progress billings to invoices issued to

customers, on a sample basis.

s EREMERHAONATEEBHERRMK

REEPNEENSH REBKRER
TRRIANERE -

e
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How our audit addressed the key audit matters

EECERNNEERREELSE

Recoverability of trade receivables and retention receivables

B 5 W E R JE AR B 2 49 0] 4

We identified the recoverability of trade receivables

and retention receivables as a key audit matter due
to the significance of the balances to the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and
the use of judgment and estimates by management
in assessing the recoverability of trade receivables
and retention receivables.
EERANESRRFBERERRESH W OKE R H
REZFH REASER ERUGSUBRRE
BER - RRFHEE 5 RUCGRIE K EKRE S AT E
12 JE I ik A ) T R (i AT e

As disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated financial

statements, trade receivables and retention
receivables of the Group carried at HK$15,863,000
and HK$20,123,000 respectively as at 31 December
2017, which represented 21% and 27% of the
Group's total assets.
WERE M B MENFIMER R —tF 1+ =
A=+—R  &E%£EHNEHEKFIERERKRKRE
& AREE 5 Bl 415,863,000/ 7T 220,123,000 7T
h BEEREE21%K27% °

As set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial

statements, in determining the impairment loss, the
management considers the credit history including
default or delay in payments and settlement records,
subsequent settlements and aging analysis of trade
receivables and retention receivables.

WMaR A MRS E - RETRESER
EREBGERFEELE BEERNERNRK &
Hitk HERAEELESERRFERERRES 2
BRER AT -

Our procedures in relation to recoverability of trade
receivables and retention receivables included:

EEHEHFRRKARERRE SO KOS HIEF
B

o Understanding the management’'s process of
assessing the recoverability of trade receivables
and retention receivables;

. THREIREYE S RUGIR M B R E £ m e
= R S

o Assessing the accuracy of the aging analysis of
trade receivables and retention receivables by
checking to the payment certificates or
completion certificates issued by the customers,
respectively, on a sample basis;

o FHAEE ZEUWGIA KRB RE & H R O T ERE
B AERDMEREESFEHANNRES T
PR

o Testing the subsequent settlements, on a sample
basis, to bank remittance advice; and

e MWMEBERTEXBAMAAERET K

o Evaluating the reasonableness of the
management’s assessment on the recoverability of
trade receivables and retention receivables with
reference to the credit history including default or
delay in payments and settlement records,
subsequent settlements, aging analysis and the
business relationship with the customer on a
sample basis.

e HWEFGEREHSREMNTEFLNESEWFIA
REBKRESHEHEHTIRELSE EH2
ZREECH(BREERIEEMNR) - B -
HigE R/ LE ESENEBHER-
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those
Charged with Governance for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. Those
charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Wing Fung Group Asia Limited
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chan Tsz Wai.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

21 March 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
REREBERHEMEZERER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZZT—tF+-A=+—HILFE

2017 2016
—E—t& —E—RF
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
ks FET FAET
Revenue e 6 166,082 134,366
Cost of services PR 755 BX 7S (133,513) (109,733)
Gross profit E7 32,569 24,633
Other income H g A 7 535 731
Administrative expenses TR X (13,567) (7,315)
Listing expenses X (11,310) —
Finance costs B 7 B AR 8 (197) (114)
Profit before tax B 35 A& A 9 8,030 17,935
Income tax expense FrisfiF X 10 (2,819) (2,530)
Profit for the year F A E 5,211 15,405
Other comprehensive (expense) income 4F A £ {th & & (57 7 )
for the year g
item that may be reclassified HEAEEF SR
subsequently to profit or loss: EmhEE -
Exchange differences arising on BREBINEBREE
translation of a foreign operation K[ X =58 (36) 126
Total comprehensive income FrRE2EkE
for the year # 5,175 15,531

Basic earnings per share (HK cents) BREXRAZFN B 13 1.23 4.76
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MBAARR R

As at 31 December 2017 RZZT—tF+=-A=+—H

2017 2016
—E—+F —E—RF
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
k=3 FHET FET
Non-current asset FERBEE
Plant and equipment B REE 14 186 109
Current assets MENEE
Amounts due from customers BREFAEHIRER
for contract works 18 15 10,234 9,079
Trade and other receivables, B 5 K E th & WK
deposits and prepayments I8 e RIERARK
18 16 40,617 46,215
Amount due from a director Bl — B EERIE 17 — 20,708
Pledged and restricted bank EHERRZRGRT
deposits 7 18 5,725 —
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRLERS 18 17,284 14,977
73,860 90,979
Current liabilities mEIBE
Amounts due to customers BENEFAEHNIRER
for contract works | 15 4,422 10,315
Trade and retention payables B ENFIERRE
® 19 14,554 11,985
Other payables and accrued H b fE S 5 IE R JE A
expenses %A 20 5,437 1,550
Amount due to a shareholder FERER AT — B R
of the holding company RAIE 17 — 81
Amounts due to related companies J& {<f B8 B X 5] ZUE 17 5,041 8,720
Tax payable JE 7% 18 3,338 5,187
Bank overdrafts-secured RITEX — BEF 18 72 2,404
Bank borrowing RITE N 21 19,485 —
52,349 40,242

Net current assets MEEEFE 21,511 50,737
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e BRI E

As at 31 December 2017 RZZT—tF+=ZA=1+—H

2017 2016

“E-tF  -FAF

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

ki3 FET FET

Total assets less current liabilities B EAZER AT EGE 21,697 50,846
Capital and reserves MR AR K f

Share capital A& 7 22 8 7

Reserves it 21,689 50,839

21,697 50,846

The consolidated financial statements on pages 64 to 147 were S$64E FIATAMNEGEAMBREACEZEZ S
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on R-ZT—N\F=ZA -+ — Bt/ RRET
21 March 2018 and are signed on its behalf by: WHNATALTREESE:

Chung Chi Keung Lai Suk Fan EFE -
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR EE | BRF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GERBBER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZT—tHF+-A=+—HILFE

Exchange
Share Share translation Capital Other Retained

capital premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total
R R4 EE HERE ERGE Hit e REBEF @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT FET FER FAT FET FER

(Note)

(Fiit)
At 1 January 2016 RZZ—RF-A—H 25 — (247) — — 27,575 27,353
Profit for the year FREF - — — — — 15,405 15,405

Exchange differences arising on translation 8 /G 9N £ # & 4 ME L =5

of a foreign operation — — 126 — — — 126
Total comprehensive income for the year 4 N2 E M A%E — — 126 — — 15,405 15,531
Dividend declared and settled (Note 12) EERRE XA E (H:12) — — — — — (2,038) (2,038)
Issue of shares by the Company (Note 22) AR G175 (4i222) 1 9,999 — — — — 10,000
Arising from the Reorganisation REEMR(TRRFBERME)

(as defined and detailed in Note 2) (19) 12,960 — — (12,941) — —
At 31 December 2016 RZZB-R"F+-A=+-A 7 22,959 (121) - (12,941) 40,942 50,846
Profit for the year FREF - — - - - 5211 5211
Exchange differences arising on translation 2 8GN EHELMEH 25

of a foreign operation — — (36) — — — (36)
Total comprehensive (expense) income ~ FR2MHE (%) R 88

for the year — — (36) — — 5211 5,175
Dividend declared and settled (Note 12) BBk kX (8 (HiF12) - (37,946) - 11,676 - (23,054) (49,324)
Issue of shares by the Company (Note 22) /AR %1784 (#f222) 1 14,999 — - — - 15,000
At 31 December 2017 RZEB—+F+-A=+—-A 8 12 (157) 11,676 (12,941) 23,099 21,697

Note: The other reserve represents the difference between the share capital  #/i# - HFEHERBE_ZT—"F+_A=-+/\H

of Wing Fung Engineering (H.K.) Limited (“Wing Fung HK") and Botop TR RN SRR E2RF e EH - &
Engineering (Macau) Limited (“Botop Macau”) at the dates on which CIR(EBERRAA(REEEDREAR
they were acquired by the Company and the Company’s direct wholly TRORPD)—ABR2ATEERERD 5 A
owned subsidiary, respectively, and the nominal value and share REARFRRARATDNEELENB AR WE
premium of the newly issued share capital of the Company for the EARMRAERNBHETRAANKEELRE
acquisition of Wing Fung HK, pursuant to the reorganisation BEANEBERRMNDAER 2 HENZERE -

completed on 28 December 2016, as detailed in Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

RERITRER

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZZT—tF+-A=+—HILFE

2017 2016
—E—t& —E—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Operating activities D)
Profit before tax B B A 4 A 8,030 17,935
Adjustments for: R
Depreciation of plant and equipment WS REEITE 51 31
Loss on write-off of plant and equipment il 35 1 28 R B A
& 18 4 4
Interest expense MERX 197 114
Interest income FEWBA (18) —
Operating cash flows before movements in HEEEHATN
working capital BEREME 8,264 18,084
Changes in amounts due (to) from customers () WEF AL
for contract works TRERIEE (7,021) 2,232
Decrease (increase) in trade and B 5 N H b e R
other receivables, deposits and prepayments H- e RBEMK
R (1B )JD) 5,487 (2,296)
Decrease in amounts due JE iz B Bk R B R IB
from related companies L — 1,245
Increase (decrease) in trade and retention g5 ENZRENEN
payables IR [E & 18 OFl 2>) 2,589 (2,664)
Increase in other payables and E At & T FRIE K E AT
accrued expenses BREM 3,803 405
Decrease in amounts due to related companies J& 1 8 Bt A 7 5018
Vs (3.653) (3,592)
Cash generated from operations KEMERS 9,469 13,414
Income tax paid EATEH (4,644) (426)
Net cash from operating activities KETEEERE
R 4,825 12,988
Investing activities BEED
Placement of pledged and FHREEE R
restricted bank deposits PR 6 R 1T 17 K (5,725) —
Additions to plant and equipment RNEHERERE (134) (78)
Interest received 24 FIE 16 —
Advance to a director BT — %i% — (12,961)
Net cash used in investing activities REZHMARS
F R (5,843) (13,039)
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZT—tHF+-A=+—HILFE

2017 2016
—E—+tF ZE—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FAET
Financing activities BEEH
New bank borrowing raised FEBRTEE 20,000 —
Issue of shares BITIRM 15,000 10,000
Dividends paid 2R E (28,616) —
Repayment of a bank borrowing BERITEE (515) —
Interest paid EENEESE (110) (114)
Repayment to a shareholder Bz NG
of the holding company —ERRENK (81) —
Net cash from financing activities MEZHAERS
% 5,678 9,886
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents RekREFEY
3% EE 4,660 9,835
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the FH R & KR &S
year E 12,573 2,820
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INEE R E B (21) (82)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FXxZIHRE KRR EEH
EY 17,212 12,573
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year, FARXZIRENIBESH
represented by: &Y 15 -
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR LIRS 17,284 14,977
Bank overdrafts RITHEX (72) (2,404)
17,212 12,573
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRMNE

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZZT—tF+-A=+—HILFE

General

The Company was incorporated under the name Wing
Fung Capital Holdings Limited as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Law Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands on 29
September 2016 and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
on 27 February 2018. On 30 December 2016, the name
of the Company was changed to Wing Fung Group Asia
Limited. The address of the Company’s registered office is
PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104,
Cayman Islands and the principal place of business is Units
13 & 14, 9th Floor, Worldwide Industrial Centre, 43-47
Shan Mei Street, Fotan, the New Territories, Hong Kong.
The Company’s immediate and ultimate holding company
is Wing Fung Capital Limited, a private company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI").

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of
supply, installation and fitting-out services of mechanical
ventilation and air-conditioning (“MVAC") system for
buildings.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the
functional currency of the Company.

Basis of preparation and presentation of
Consolidated Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
based on the accounting policies set out in Note 4 which
conform with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs") and the principles of merger accounting under
Accounting Guideline 5 Merger Accounting for Common
Control Combinations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA").

—REH

KRBIRZZE—R"FALAZT AR
BEREBEE—NA—FFE35REHFH22
ERAVE(KEZEERENDRHAEHS
PAWing Fung Capital Holdings Limited
LEREFAMKLIAERRBR AR R
EROR_ZE—NF_A=++tBR
EEBMERSGMABRAR (BT
FA-RZTE-—XRE+_A=+H"
RARMEHEE RREEEIMNE
RAR - ARl EENHI B
PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands }z
FTEEEMBREAMAARLES
A3-47R IR IR T P DIBI3RI4E o
RARMEEREEERAT AN K
BHARREE((RBHERRFE] T
fi B¢ 32 89 AL A 2 ®]Wing Fung Capital
Limited

ARBRBREERRAREKNBERA
TERFREHEETFERMBRA KT H
(MEmBRE R =R RFHE - &
KERETERS -

HAEMBREUNARRNEEEET
(BT 25 -

REVMBBRRNERRZ5
B

REMBRRDIRETAB G0
RE((EEGHMAG)EMNEE
MBREERN(EFEMBEHREERD)
FEETECR (BN E4) R &sT1E5IH
SSEHFEH A A HEETHAE
HrEFtRERAMES -
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZT—tHF+-A=+—HILFE

Basis of preparation and presentation of 2.

Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

On 29 May 2017, Mr. Chung Chi Keung (“Mr. Chung”)
and Ms. Chung Mei Lin (“Ms. Chung”) (together referred
to as the “Controlling Shareholders”) entered into the
Deed of Acting in Concert to reiterate, amongst other
things, that they have been parties acting in concert
(within the meaning under the Takeovers Code) in respect
of Wing Fung Capital Limited, Wing Fung HK and Botop
Macau since the respective incorporation dates of Wing
Fung HK, Botop Macau and Wing Fung Capital Limited
and until any of Mr. Chung and Ms. Chung ceases to be
an ultimate shareholder of the relevant companies or the
date of termination of the Deed of Acting in Concert. For
further details, please refer to the section headed “History,
Development and Reorganisation” in the prospectus of the
Company dated 12 February 2018 (the “Prospectus”) in
connection with the initial listing of the shares of the
Company on GEM of the Stock Exchange.

Through a group reorganisation, as more fully explained in
the section headed “History, Development and
Reorganisation” in the Prospectus and as summarised
below (the “Reorganisation”), the Company became the
holding company of the Group on 28 December 2016.
Prior to the Reorganisation, the entire equity interests of
Botop Macau and Wing Fung HK, being the operating
subsidiaries of the Group, were directly held by the
Controlling Shareholders.

Pursuant to the Reorganisation, the Company incorporated
Wing Fung Investment Management Limited (“Wing Fung
Investment”), a company incorporated in the BVI, on 22
September 2016. Wing Fung Investment then acquired the
entire share capital of Botop Macau of Macau Pataca
("“MOP") 25,000 (approximately HK$25,000) from the
Controlling Shareholders on 16 December 2016, at a
consideration of MOP25,000 (approximately HK$25,000) in
cash.

REMBERNEER 25

% (/)

R-ZZT—tERA-_+NLB #E5R
EE((ERE) REXEL T ([EX
THDHBRIFERRR]) G — T
BRE NEREFBEINRRESR
&~ & 8l 8 P9 RWing Fung Capital
Limited® BN LW BEHURER
ErEREBELTEN—ATHAIEH
NAMBRERR K —BITHRIBK L
A - ?BZ % HWing Fung Capital
Limited - 82 BEREBEIEPI A — B
TT%D/\i(E%%HﬁZEﬁ#E‘J)"E%ﬁ
BREAMAQARNEBHA-ZZTE—NF=
A+ZBEBEARA RGO REA
GEMER ETHHREER(HERE
BDIEL ZFEREEHE]|—E-

ERBRERIFL FEREEAH|—
EFTRF R T B EHA([E
m%$ﬁi%:§—ﬁ¢+:ﬂ
ZTHNBXAEAEBEMNZERAR &
WA AEBHELEHEBRREAR
PINEKERENZMRERITERBRE
EEER-

RIBEEA ARAFR TR FNLA
— + = A & it K ZWing Fung
Investment Management Limited
(I Wing Fung Investment |) » —R R &
BAREBRESTMAKIZA QA - Wing
Fung InvestmentE & R =& — X F
TZATRAERERKRREES SR
F925,0002 P # (R PT % ]) (#925,000
BT R AR - KB R £25,000
BP9 ¥ (4£925,000%8 7T) o
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HE—-ZT—
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tFE+ A=+ HLFE

Basis of preparation and presentation of
Consolidated Financial Statements
(Continued)

On 15 December 2016, a sale and purchase agreement
was entered into between the Controlling Shareholders
and the Company, pursuant to which the Company
acquired the entire share capital of Wing Fung HK of
HK$700 at the consideration of HK$6,846,855 (determined
based on the net assets value of Wing Fung HK as at 30
June 2016), to be satisfied by the Company issuing and
allotting 749 new shares to Wing Fung Capital Limited.
The transfer was completed on 28 December 2016 and
Wing Fung HK became a direct wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company. At the time of completion, the net assets
of Wing Fung HK was approximately
HK$12,966,000, which was recognised as the investment
cost in Wing Fung HK by the Company. On the same
date, the Reorganisation was completed and the Company
became the holding company of the companies now
comprising the Group.

value

The Group comprising the Company and its subsidiaries
resulting from the Reorganisation has been under the
common control of the Controlling Shareholders and is
regarded as a continuing entity. Accordingly, the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared as if
the Company had always been the holding company of
the Group.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows which
include the results, changes in equity and cash flows of
the companies now comprising the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2016 have been prepared as if the
Company had always been the holding company of the
Group and the current group structure had been in
existence throughout that year, or since the respective
dates of incorporation of the relevant entities, where there
is a shorter period.

REMBERRNEHRRED

2% (&)

RZE—XRE+-_A+EHH K
%&ZK’AjaTig,iTﬁJaﬁ’ﬁﬁt ViN
NS EE ;‘%7005%735’17\%%
AN R 1B 56,846,855 7T (IRiE 4 &
BR_E—ARFNA=ZTHHEEF
BET) BAARRBEBET KK
7490% % B& 5 FWing Fung Capital
Limited& [ - EBZR T —R~F+ =
H SWAN=E A ﬁﬁ**mﬁi’éﬁz%zrx
NEMEEZENB AR - RTK
iSSE ,%m,éf?aafﬁﬁmz 966,000
BT BARBERAER 578 1
WEKA-RA - Eiﬁmﬂzﬁﬁf‘
AR EERIET AR NZER AR

HREA HARALREMBAFAE
P B S B2 B 5 4 A P 3R AL [R) A A 3
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZT—tHF+-A=+—HILFE

Application of new and revised HKFRSs

For the purpose of preparing and presenting the
consolidated financial statements for the year, the Group
has consistently applied all HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”), amendments and
interpretations (“HK(IFRIC)—Int"”) issued by the HKICPA
which are effective for the accounting periods beginning
on 1 January 2017 consistently throughout the year.

At the date of issuance of these consolidated financial
statements, the HKICPA has issued the following new and
revised HKFRSs that are not yet effective. The Group has
not early adopted these new and revised HKFRSs.

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16
HKFRS 17

HK(IFRIC) — Int 22

HK(IFRIC) — Int 23

Amendments to
HKFRS 2
Amendments to
HKFRS 4

Amendments to
HKFRS 9

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKAS 28
Amendments to
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKAS 40

Financial Instruments'

Revenue from Contracts with Customers and
related Amendments'

Leases®
Insurance Contracts*

Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration’

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments?

Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment Transaction'

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with
HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts'

Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation®
Sale or Contribution of Assets between

an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture?

Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures?®

As part of the Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2014-2016 Cycle'

Transfers of Investment Property’

Amendments to HKFRSs  Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2015-2017 Cycle?

3. BAFTREETEBHE
% % g

RBELEINAFENEEMBRE
B AEERBEFEERERETR
St AREMRE T —LtF—A
—HARAEN S BRERNAE BB
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St EA ] R ARRE(EE(H
BB HRERERES) — 28D -
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B 5155 EHE
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ERE17%
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HEZZ

—tF+A=t+—HLFE

Application of new and revised HKFRSs
(Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2018.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2019.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 introduces requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets, financial
liabilities, general hedge accounting and impairment
requirements for financial assets.

new

Key requirement of HKFRS 9 which is relevant to the
Group is in relation to the impairment of financial assets,
of which HKFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model,
as opposed to an incurred credit loss model under HKAS
39 financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.
The expected credit loss model requires an entity to
account for expected credit losses and changes in those
expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In other
words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have
occurred before credit losses are recognised.

Based on the Group’s financial instruments and risk
management policies as at 31 December 2017, the
directors of the Company anticipate the following
potential impact on initial application of HKFRS 9 :

3.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZT—tHF+-A=+—HILFE

Application of new and revised HKFRSs
(Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)
Impairment

In general, the directors of the Company anticipate that
the application of the expected credit loss model of
HKFRS 9 will result in earlier provision of credit losses
which are not yet incurred in relation to the Group's
financial assets measured at amortised costs and other
items that are subject to the impairment provisions upon
the application of HKFRS 9 by the Group.

Based on the assessment by the directors of the Company,
if the expected credit loss model were to be applied by
the Group, the accumulated amount of impairment loss to
be recognised by Group as at 1 January 2018 would not
have material difference as compared to the accumulated
amount recognised under HKAS 39 attributable to
expected credit losses provision on trade, retention and
other receivables and pledged and restricted bank deposits
and bank balances.

Except for the expected credit loss model may result in
early provision of credit losses which are not yet incurred
in relation to the Group’s financial assets measured at
amortised cost, the application of HKFRS 9 in the future
may not have a material impact on the financial
statements of the Group.

3.
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Application of new and revised HKFRSs
(Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15
will supersede the current revenue recognition guidance
including HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction
Contracts and the related Interpretations when it becomes
effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should
recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects
the consideration to which the entity expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
Specifically, the standard introduces a 5-step approach to
revenue recognition:

. Step 1 Identify the contract(s) with a customer

o Step 2 © Identify the performance obligations in
the contract

o Step 3: Determine the transaction price

o Step 4 - Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract

o Step 5:  Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity

satisfies a performance obligation

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as)
a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer. Far
more prescriptive guidance has been added in HKFRS 15
to deal with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive
disclosures are required by HKFRS 15.

3.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZT—tHF+-A=+—HILFE

Application of new and revised HKFRSs
(Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Continued)

In 2016, the HKICPA issued clarifications to HKFRS 15 in
relation to the identification of performance obligations,
principal versus agent considerations, as well as licensing
application guidance.

With regard to the construction contracts, the directors
specifically consider HKFRS 15's guidance on contract
combinations, contract modifications arising from variation
orders, variable consideration, and significant financing
component in the contracts. The directors have assessed
that the supply, installation and fitting-out services
together provide a distinct and significant integration
service for MVAC system for buildings which are
considered a single performance obligation with regard to
the construction contracts. In addition, the directors have
assessed that the performance obligation on the
construction contracts is satisfied over time as the Group
provides construction services on customers’ sites which
creates an asset that the customers control. As a result,
revenue from these construction contracts should be
recognised over time during the course of performance of
construction service. The directors consider that the output
method currently used to measure the progress towards
complete satisfaction of performance obligation will
continue to be appropriate under HKFRS 15.

The directors intend to use the limited retrospective
method of transition to HKFRS 15. Apart from providing
more extensive disclosure on the Group’s revenue
transactions, the directors do not anticipate that the
application of HKFRS 15 will have a significant impact on
the financial position and/or financial performance of the
Group.
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For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZZT—tF+-A=+—HILFE

Application of new and revised HKFRSs
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting
treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will
supersede HKAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations
when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the
basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by a
customer. Distinctions of operating leases and finance
leases are removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced
by a model where a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability have to be recognised for all leases
by lessees, except for short-term leases and leases of low
value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain
exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease
liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the
present value of the lease payments that are not paid at
that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for
interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of lease
modifications, amongst others. For the classification of
cash flows, other operating lease payments are presented
as operating cash flows. Under the HKFRS 16, lease
payments in relation to lease liability will be allocated into
a principal and an interest portion which will be presented
as financing cash flows.

In contrast to lessee accounting, HKFRS 16 substantially
carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in
HKAS 17, and continues to require a lessor to classify a
lease either as an operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS
16.

3.

ERHAIREETERME

=28 (&)
ERUBREENE6RAT

ERPBHmEERE 165 RBAHE
ARABAZHER R & RIE S
A—lHEERN - REBMBEHREE
AF16RMAERR  HMREEES
HAE17TREE RERERE -

BB SRS 2R 1657 1R 5 FT 4 B
BERTHEFRPESRESAE LR
BAYH HEHHELREEEEEMR
BN KEHEMMEREZZREB
EBAGIHTERTBR  WHARAA
BARTETHERREREEERIEE
BEZEXNER-

ERAEEENL ARG E K&
A CGE THIRIBAGIIN BRI E
MREEBE;E  UstEREHTE
MESERGBEFLEAZE -BEEBUY
BREARNEENRNRETE - H
% MEAENMNEREEMNKAR
(AP BR)BENETNEEF LS
E-pBERENDEMS  HoL&
EHENFRAUZINARERERE -
REFEMBREERE 165 5F
HERENBHENTBEIEZEKZ
RBERTRENAERHMEID -

EARAGHREAL  BEMBER
FEAFISRAHE AT BB GTE
AFI7TRZHBEASFREERE - A
EEEREBAASEAE I BEAEER
EXREHEE -

BN BFB WS ERF165% BX
FHABOWRE -



Wing Fung Group Asia Limited
Annual Report 2017

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR B B RS R M A

For the year ended 31 December 2017 HEZ—ZT—tHF+-A=+—HILFE

Application of new and revised HKFRSs
(Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of HK$273,000 as disclosed
in Note 25. The directors of the Company do not expect
the adoption of HKFRS 16 as compared with HKAS 17
would result in significant impact on the Group’s result
but expected that the above operating lease arrangements
will meet the definition of a lease under HKFRS 16, and
hence the Group will recognise a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability in respect of all these leases unless
they qualify for low value or short-term leases upon the
application of HKFRS 16. In addition, the application of
new requirements may result changes in measurement,
presentation and disclosure as indicated above.

Significant accounting policies

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of
the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis. Historical cost is generally
based on the fair value of the consideration given in
exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes
into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if
market participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in the consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are within the scope of HKAS 17 Leases,
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in
HKAS 2 /Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets.

3.

FERFTET RS BRI
HEA (&)

ERMBHEEEE16REE (H)

N-ZE—+E+-_A=+—80 K&
B 5 1 Al B8y 48 & 71 &R ¥E273,00008
TR M 53258 &) - " A Al E £ &
B YR E S ERNE175 0 &
RS B RS R B B 165E G T 2
NEBEBEEERERNTE  WBH L
ME2HETHBETEEEUBRS
LEHFIGRBEBIHENES Bt
AEBBRATEZSHERRER#
EERBEAE BRIFENEREE
B # iR B 165 AR EES
MHEE I ERFBE A EE
HEXAREE 2V RBEEES-

EAXEFHEE

GABMBREBEGHRERE - It
5N+ kR A BT TS TR K B IE B R FTGEMEE
% ETRAIRE S A TR 08
P -

RAEMBHRRDVIZELKAEER
Bl FRRA—RAGBLERE & KR
BRGETHRENIFER/EE -

ATEARHBEAMENBEREY
R R 5 I A e B 7
U S R T TR
B R A E B B IR PR A
R G - KA E A
BORT (R AN o B AR 0 S Bk
RirERMARERE EEEEER
EEMAERRRFEM - GAMBE
xR AEHER ARBARHAF
EREEEET REBHBREL
BIS52% LU (5.5 28 40 2 11 906 P
UG AERNZ RS BERE
R RAERBENNAER SR
SR TEBAUEN AT EE B (f
I R B B4 77 R TR
B8 3 W 5 B 365 4
o ) {5 PR {8 {B) B 51 o

79



80

[
W g

f-\—

BN B R L
FEH

]
ol

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

8

For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HE—-ZT—

4.

I 75 o MY R

tFE+ A=+ HLFE

Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

The principal accounting policies are set out below:
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the four elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.
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Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Merger accounting for business combination involving
entities under common control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements items of the combining entities or
businesses in which the common control combination
occurs as if they had been combined from the date when
the combining entities or businesses first came under the
control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses are
combined using the existing book values from the
controlling party’s perspective. No amount is recognised in
respect of goodwill or bargain purchase gain at the time
of common control combination.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income includes the results of each of the
combining entities or businesses from the earliest date
presented or since the date when the combining entities
or businesses first came under the common control, where
this is a shorter period.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
statement of financial position at cost less any identified
impairment losses.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured; when it is probable that future
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when
specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s
activities, as described below.
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Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to
the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

The Group’s policy for the recognition of revenue from
construction services is described in the accounting policy
for “construction contracts” below.

Construction contracts

When the outcome of a construction contract can be
estimated reliably, contract revenue and costs are
recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the
contract activity at the end of the reporting period,
measured based on the surveys of work performed to date
relative to the estimated total contract revenue, that the
management of the Group would consider that can be
more representative of stage of completion. Variations in
contract work and claims are included to the extent that
the amount can be measured reliably and its receipt is
considered probable.

When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be
estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the
extent of contract costs incurred that it is probable will be
recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as expenses in
the period in which they are incurred.

When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed
total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as
an expense immediately.
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Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Construction contracts (Continued)

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised
profits less recognised losses exceed progress billings, the
surplus is shown as amounts due from customers for
contract works. For contracts where progress billings
exceed contract costs incurred to date plus recognised
profits less recognised losses, the surplus is shown as
amounts due to customers for contract works. Amounts
received before the related work is performed are included
in the consolidated statement of financial position as a
liability, as advances received. Amounts billed for work
performed but not yet paid by the customer are included
in the consolidated statement of financial position under
trade and other receivables, deposits and prepayments.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified
as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of the time
pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset
are consumed.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into
operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a
liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised
as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis,
except where another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
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Significant accounting policies
(Continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs and termination benefits
Pension schemes

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans
and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised
as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the service. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expenses
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised in respect for benefits accr